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FY 19-20 Climate Change Research Program 

SOLICITATION FAQ  

 

This Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) document represents key information and inquiry 

responses provided to potential applicants for the FY 2019-2020 (Round 3) funding round of the 

Strategic Growth Council’s (SGC) Climate Change Research Program. The questions and 

answers published below provide clarification and additional details solely on the Climate Change 

Research Program’s Round 3 application process. No substantive changes have been made to 

the solicitation.  
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ABOUT THE PROGRAM: FUNDING, AWARDS, PROCESS 
How often is a Request for Proposals released by the SGC?  

Money is appropriated discretionally to fund the Climate Change Research Program yearly at the end of 

each fiscal year as part of the state budget process. While SGC aims to have an annual request for 

proposals (RFPs), the availability of funding varies yearly. 

How long is the award duration and what is the grant amount? 

In Round 3, awards will range from one hundred thousand to 1 million dollars. It is up to applicants to 

ask for and justify the grant amount that is appropriate for their research question. It is also up to the 

applicant to define the award duration – awards can range from 1-3 years. Please note that the grant 

amount requested will be for the award duration, not per year. 

How many applications versus awards did you have in the past couple of rounds?  

• Round 1: 69 Proposals to 10 Awards. Total funding: $10.5 million  

• Round 2: 24 Proposals to 4 Awards. Total funding: $17.1 million 

o Note: In Round 2, we were specifically looking to fund innovative technology R&D.  

o Previous proposals and awards are listed on the SGC website, on the Resources page for 

the Climate Change Research Program.  

Has the solicitation or program changed in the past two years?  

Broadly the program’s Research Investment Plan has not changed. The focus of each Round of funding 

has evolved based on Council priorities and feedback/input from stakeholders.  

In Round 1, we funded research addressing four of the five research priority areas; the projects loosely 

focused on resilience in various sectors around the State. In Round 2, the Council directed us to focus on 

advancing innovative technology R&D to help meet CA’s goals. Finally, in Round 3, the priorities are 

updated to reflect what we have heard from researchers, community leaders from around the State, 

and from our State agency partners, in terms of high priority research topics not being funded by the 

State’s other research programs. We also added crosscutting thematic lenses for the first time, and an 

updated threshold requirement on meaningful engagement - again directly reflecting stakeholder 

engagement and outreach.  

Does this program favor large projects? 

No, it does not. Requirements are described in each solicitation, for each Round of funding. For Round 3 

funding, SGC has created a wider application window than in previous rounds to allow room for a 

greater range of project sizes and lead applicants. Projects of all sizes are encouraged to apply that meet 

the Program requirements.  

Is there a preference for senior investigators over junior Assistant Professors in granting 

Awards? 

No, funding priority will be given to Lead Applicants who can effectively demonstrate ability to complete 

the proposed project. Seniority will not be weighed, only the strength of the proposal and plan. 
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What are the expectations for ramp up time for a project as a percent of total term? 

SGC aims to complete grant agreements within two months of award notification. In order to 

accommodate graduate student project timelines, SGC aims to have all grants executed and in place by 

October at the latest. For the project itself, ramp up time should mirror and not exceed what is outlined 

in the scope of work timeline submitted in the proposal. 

Will SGC staff work with grant-awarded research teams to share accessible statewide 

sector greenhouse gas inventory data? 

Yes. SGC will be a resource should necessary data not be readily obtainable through available online 

query tools of the state.  

Additionally, SGC will be in communication with award recipients to ensure that researchers are 

appropriately connected to state agency staff. This serves the dual role of facilitating data accessibility 

for researchers as well as ensuring that funded research will be useful in informing the work of the state. 

LEAD APPLICANT ELIGIBILITY 
What requirements must be met for an organization to qualify as a “nonprofit research 

institution”? 

Requirements for demonstrating eligibility as a nonprofit research institution consist of: 

• Active status as a nonprofit organization on the California Secretary of State’s Business 

Corporations https://www.sos.ca.gov/business-programs/bizfile/, and 

• “Research” is included in the list of activities articulated in the entity’s “Articles of 

Incorporation” submitted when registering with the State of California as a Nonprofit Business 

Corporation. 

Are organizations that conduct research, but are not solely research organizations, 

eligible to apply? 

Yes; however, research must be included in the organization’s mission statement / documentation as a 

non-profit. See above.  

Can a non-research entity serve as the Lead Applicant? 

No, this program is required to fund scientific research that includes an original research question, led 

by an organization that performs research. However, if a non-research entity is working with the lead 

organization on a research question, that could qualify given that the scientist/organization serves as 

Lead Applicant.  

Is it possible to apply through an organization based in California if the proposed PI/Lead 

Applicant is based outside of the state? 

No, SGC requires that the Principal Investigator/Lead Applicant be based in California. Additionally, most 

of the work will need to take place within the state. If an out-of-state partner is required, the applicant 

will be responsible for making the case that the necessary expertise is not present within the state. 
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In what capacity is the SGC willing to work with tribal governments and federal agencies 

operating within California? 

The Climate Change Research Program must award funds directly to research institutions. We cannot 

fund any government entity. However, we do require partnerships and meaningful engagement in every 

proposal, and tribal and federal agencies can be included as research partners.  

SUB-APPLICANT ELIGIBILITY 
Are entities located outside of California eligible to be sub-recipients of grant funding? 

Yes. Entities outside of California (including outside of the United States) are eligible to act as sub-

recipients. Any sub-recipients not located in California must be able to enter a contract with the Lead 

Applicant, who is responsible for complying with the terms and conditions of the State of California, 

including the Contractor Certification Clauses, Darfur Contracting Act Certification, and the Iran 

Contracting Act Certification. 

It is recommended that the Lead Applicant provide an explanation on the value of working with a 

partner that does not reside/do business in California. What is the unique or essential skill set or 

expertise that cannot be found by partnering with an individual or institution within California? Are they 

a part of a key coalition or alliance that will be relied on? This type of information should be spelled out 

as part of the narrative so that examiners understand why a non-California entity is involved. 

PARTNERSHIP REQUIREMENT 
• Can a non-academic research institution serve as a partner?  

• Does a partner need to be an organization with relationships within the community 

being studied?  

• Can a city or regional government serve as a partner? 

• Can partner organizations come from the startup community or industry?  

All of the above are eligible to be partners. The partner(s) included will depend on the topics being 

studied and proposed in the application. It will be the responsibility of the Lead Applicant to determine 

who the appropriate partnering organizations are, in keeping with SGC’s mission of supporting science 

to action. Please review the meaningful engagement criteria included in the solicitation, and other 

requirements around partnerships. The meaningful engagement component constitutes a third of the 

final score attributed to applications and should be appropriately thought out and documented. The 

partnerships should be meaningful to make resulting research outcomes actionable.  

Can the non-academic partner be a for-profit consulting firm? 

A for-profit firm could be a paid partner, but the justification would need to be compelling, keeping in 

mind that the review process is competitive. It may be useful to consider consulting firms as partners on 

a specific area of expertise, rather than a satisfactory completion of the meaningful engagement 

threshold requirement. 
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Can recruiting communities to participate occur as part of the early phase of the funded 

project, or do all the participating entities need to be identified and included in the initial 

proposal? 

Technically yes, but demonstrating how the research team has already developed relationships and can 

move forward upon award receipt makes for a more competitive proposal. If applying without having 

recruited appropriate partners, reviewers would need to see that the applicant has a lot of expertise and 

success in doing this work.  

Could climate change research use an education component to satisfy the community 

engagement requirements? 

No, while education and training are helpful and valuable, they do not satisfy the meaningful 

engagement criteria on their own and must be supplemented with a meaningful partnership. That being 

said, SGC welcomes applications that would include some education or training components.  

In meeting the requirement for funding non-academic partners, would setting aside 

funding for granting honoraria and travel reimbursements to participants of a convening 

qualify as adequate criteria satisfaction? 

While SGC encourages proposers to do both when feasible, the requirement is to include a paid non-

academic partner in the proposed budget (see solicitation). Funding in the “Miscellaneous” and “Travel” 

categories of the budget to reimburse stakeholder participation for time and travel is insufficient in 

meeting criteria for meaningfully integrating and funding non-academic partners.  

SGC requires that non-academic partners included to meet the threshold requirement be listed as 

consultants or sub-recipients in proposal budgets. Past rounds and feedback from stakeholders and 

other partners have demonstrated that funding partners is essential to demonstrate that a proposal has 

a viable strategy for implementing ongoing engagement, education, and/or dissemination efforts, while 

including and valuing the important contribution that organizations connected to community/on-the-

ground work/end-users bring to creating actionable research. There is no minimum or maximum 

amount of funding required, but these efforts must be listed in the “consultant” or “sub-recipient” 

category of the budget to reflect that the partner will have a formal role in the research. 

SCOPE OF TOPICS FUNDED AND REQUIREMENTS 
For any questions on eligible topics for funding in Round 3, please review Appendix C in 

the solicitation as well as the Program’s Research Investment Plan.  

 

Will proposed projects focused on climate adaptation and resilience also need to 

address GHG emission reductions? 

Yes, SGC is required to fund projects that have some nexus of facilitating reduction of emissions over 

time. This evaluation can be described qualitatively, and projects do not necessarily need to have an 

immediate impact on emissions. For Round 3 funding, SGC is hoping to fund research that advances 

both adaptation and mitigation implementation efforts. Please refer to the Crosscutting Thematic 

Lenses in the solicitation for more information.  
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Will greenhouse gas emissions reductions need to be quantified or estimated 

greenhouse gas emissions reductions? Will quantified emission reductions need to be 

reported within the project?  

SGC is generally looking for a qualitative assessment of potential emissions reductions, depending on 

the topic studied. The reviewers will evaluate how well a proposal has responded to that requirement, 

and how well the proposal’s approach lines up with SGC’s Research Program goals.  

Did past RFPs focus on underserviced communities or is this a new emphasis? 

A threshold of the program has always been to fund research and research outcomes that directly or 

indirectly benefit low-income, disadvantaged, and climate vulnerable communities.  

What is the definition of “disadvantaged communities?” 

California Climate Investments Program, which funds SGC’s Research Program, uses the definition 

provided by CalEnviroScreen 3.0.  Low income communities are defined in Assembly Bill 1550. 

Additionally, there is a guidance document on vulnerable communities produced by the Integrated 

Climate Adaptation and Resiliency Program, from the Governor’s Office of Planning and Research, that is 

used as guidance for reviewers and applicants to consider which communities will benefit from the 

research.  

SGC does not require that a specific definition be used by applicants in order to meet this threshold; 

however, SGC requires that applicants explain why they have chosen the communities that they are 

working with. Applicants should explain in what ways those communities are underresourced, 

vulnerable, etc.  

APPLICATION CONTENT  
Should past performance be explained at the organizational level, or at the Principal 

Investigator and team level?  

Please include past performance information related to the principal investigator/team, not the 

organization. 

Is permit documentation part of the Grant application? 

Yes, as required by the research proposed.  

BUDGET AND COSTS 
What percentage of the proposed funds can go to partner organizations? Is there a limit? 

No, there is no limit. Determining that amount is at the discretion of the lead applicant/research team. 

Is the award amount inclusive of direct and indirect costs? 

Yes. Direct and indirect costs should both be included in the proposed budget. 
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Is there documentation outlining the Indirect Cost Rate for this program? 

Per the Research Investment Plan, these costs are limited to the rate of 25% MTDC (modified total direct 

cost). This rate is identified beginning on Page 7 of the program’s Climate Change Research Investment 

Plan, and on page 6 of the Round 3 Climate Change Research Program Grant Solicitation.   

For information about what is included in these cost, visit the University of California’s Office of the 

President’s Research Policy Analysis and Coordination page, https://www.ucop.edu/research-policy-

analysis-coordination/policies-guidance/indirect-cost-recovery/calculating-IDC-recovery.html and 

direction about indirect costs when engaging in research with the State of California: 

https://www.ucop.edu/research-policy-analysis-coordination/policies-guidance/indirect-cost-

recovery/state-of-california.html 

Are there plans to increase the 25% indirect cost rate cap? 

Private universities and not-for-profit research institutions may only use a higher rate if they have 

already worked with a state agency to develop a different rate outside of the state’s pre-identified 

allowable rate (as identified in the institution’s Request for Proposal or Grant Guidelines) for a specific 

program. Currently, only National Labs have been able to meet this requirement. The 25% rate has been 

consistently applied through all rounds of the CCR program’s grantmaking and aligns with the in-state 

Modified Total Direct Costs (MTDC) rate agreed to by the State and the UC system back in 2016. While 

the State’s Department of General Services is working with the University of California’s Office of the 

President to increase rates for on-campus research over the next three years, SGC cannot change the 

ICR for this program until the Council revisits the program’s Research Investment Plan, which serves as 

the program’s guiding document for distributing grant funding. 

Must eligible academic research applicants utilize certain contracts with fixed budget 

constraints when working with other desired collaborators? 

No, all sub-budgets will be subject to approval by the lead institution. The lead applicant will serve as 

the manager for all project colleagues and partners. We do not subcontract internally within SGC nor do 

we oversee negotiations between the lead applicant and their partners. The only budget constraint 

explicitly set by the funder is the 25% indirect cost rate. 

Where can applicants find standard agreements for budgeting or scope of work? 

The application platform will provide template examples for guidance regarding budget, scope of work, 

and partnership development.  

Are marketing and communication expenses acceptable? 

Yes. For example, communication, marketing, and/or hiring an engagement coordinator are all 
allowable expenses.  

Is equipment an allowable expense?  

No, please reference the equipment definition outlined in the solicitation to ensure that any expenses 

incurred are allowable and not categorized as equipment. 
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Are researchers allowed to charge for attending a training if necessary? 

The review committees will be screening for cost effectiveness, so there must be clear justification for 

the training, and it must be an effective use of funding. Similarly, if the funding will support the training 

attendance of community members of targeted groups, the justification should be clearly outlined and 

justified in the budget. 

Are reimbursements and travel expenses allowed for networking with partner 
communities?  

Yes, these would fall under the travel section of the budget. The travel of costs of partner organizations 

should also be included in the budget. 

Are membership dues to join the local partnership or industry organization allowable 
expenses?  In which category would these fall?  

Yes, these would be miscellaneous expenses.  

How will cost-effectiveness be evaluated?  

The review process includes consideration of reasonable vs. unreasonable expenditures in scoring that is 

conducted by technical experts in the field.  

Would you be able to provide a grant agreement instead of a contract?  

All awards will be grant agreements, not contracts.  

APPLICATION ADMINISTRATION 
Who disperses the funds?   

The Strategic Growth Council disperses the funds.  The California Department of Water Resources (DWR) 

is administering the online application only. 

Where can I find the Application Platform? 

The DWR Application Platform can be found at: water.ca.gov/grants 

Questions can be answered by the DWR team via email, or by phone from 8:30AM – 5:00PM PST, 

Monday – Friday.  

Does the lead organization/school need to create an account?  

Yes. You may find that your organization is already in the DWR system, but if you can’t find it you can 

create a new organization and you will become the organization administrator. 

Please note that all applications registered under an organization are viewable across that organization. 

For example, if filing an application under an organization name “Chico State University,” any other 

applicants filing under this name will be able to view your proposal. If you desire higher privacy, we 

recommend using a more specific organization name, i.e. “UCLA Urban Planning,” or “San Jose State 

University ShawLab”.  
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Do all the partners need to be registered in the DWR application system?  

No, only the lead applicant must be registered.    

Is there any specific guidance on filling out the application platform? 

In the solicitation, SGC has highlighted the questions that will need to be answered on the first two-page 

worksheets – these are required for DWR. For example, where it asks for Assembly districts, you can put 

the lead institution or office address. SGC doesn’t need the entire area the research will be happening 

within; this is just a requirement for the DWR system. Much of the second page will then auto-populate 

with information entered on the first page. 

Have additional proposal privacy measures been enacted since Round 1? 

During Round 1, it was noted that any applications registered under an organization were viewable 

across all members using that organization as a submission vehicle. This is because the DWR platform is 

primarily used across state agencies and departments, where collaboration and transparency are 

commonplace. While we cannot change the platform, we encourage applicants to create specific 

organization titles that would be unique to their preferred level of privacy. As an example, a laboratory 

at UC Riverside could create or join a school wide organization, “UC Riverside,” a departmental wide 

organization, “UC Riverside Chemical and Environmental Engineering”, or a lab specific organization, 

“UC Riverside GutierrezLab”. 

 

SGC staff are always there to help. If you have questions, give us a call and we'll be happy to walk you 

through the registration process.  
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